IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALFONSO GREEN, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No.SC02-2315

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER
Assistant Public Defender

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of sixteen (16) volumes and two (2) supplemental volumes. References in this brief to the original record on appeal will be indicated by volume number(s) and page number(s). References to the first supplemental volume that was prepared will be indicated by the abbreviation "1Supp.," followed by the page number(s). References to the second supplemental volume that was prepared will be indicated by the abbreviation "2Supp.," followed by the page number(s).

Appellant, Alfonso Green, was the defendant below. He will be referred to in this brief by name or as "Appellant."

¹ In most of the court documents below, Appellant's name is spelled "A-L-P-H-O-N-S-O." which appears to be the correct spelling. However, the spelling on the sentencing order and the Notice of Appeal is "A-L-F-O-N-S-O," and so this is the spelling that will be employed in this brief.

Appellee, the State, was the plaintiff below, and will be referred to in this brief as "the State" or as "Appellee."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 1986, an indictment was returned in Hillsborough County Circuit Court charging Appellant with two counts of first-degree murder. (Vol. 1, pp. 178-179) Count One charged that he killed Dora Virginia Nichols "by stabbing her with a knife or other sharp instrument[.]" (Vol. 1, p. 178) Count Two charged Appellant with killing Robert J. Nichols by the same method. (Vol. 1, p. 178) Both homicides allegedly occurred on October 10, 1986. (Vol. 1, p. 178)

Appellant was tried before a jury on August 25-27, and 31 and September 1-3, 8-11, and 15-16, 1987, with the Honorable Manuel

Menendez, Jr., presiding. (Vol. 2, pp. 261-264) On September 16, 1987, the jury found Appellant guilty of two counts of murder in the first degree, as charged in the indictment. (Vol. 2, pp. 390-391) After receiving evidence at a penalty phase held on the afternoon of September 16, 1987, the jury returned unanimous recommendations that he be sentenced to death for each of the two counts of murder. (Vol. 2, pp. 264, 391-392)

On October 23, 1987, written judgments and sentences signed by Judge Menendez were filed. (Vol. 3, pp. 400-406) They reflect that Appellant was given two death sentences, however, the court's written findings in aggravation and mitigation were not filed until January 13, 1988. (Vol. 3, pp. 426-431) The court found the following aggravating circumstances to have been proven (Vol. 3, pp. 427-429): (1) Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; (2) the capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in committing or attempting to commit or flight after committing or attempting a robbery or burglary; (3) the crimes were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; (4) the crimes were committed for pecuniary gain; (5) the

homicides were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (6) the killings were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The court found nothing in mitigation. (Vol. 3, pp. 429-431)

On June 6, 1991, this Court affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences of death. (Vol. 3, pp. 454-472)² The Court did, however, conclude that the trial judge erred in finding that the homicides were committed to avoid arrest and were cold, calculated and premeditated, and further found that the factors of committed during a robbery or burglary and for pecuniary gain were improperly doubled, and should have been considered as a single aggravating circumstance. (Vol. 3, pp. 465-468)

The Supreme Court of the United States denied certiorari on February 24, 1992. <u>Green v. Florida</u>, 502 U.S. 1102 (1992).

In 1993, Appellant, through post-conviction counsel, filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special

 $^{^{2}}$ This Court's opinion is reported as <u>Green v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1991).

Request for Leave to Amend. (Vol. 1, p. 2)³ The motion was subsequently amended several times. (Vol. 3, pp. 492-586; Vol. 4, pp. 595-766; Vol. 7, pp. 1304-1392)

Ultimately, on April 3, 2000, Appellant and the State entered into a joint stipulation which acknowledged that Appellant's trial counsel had rendered ineffective assistance at the penalty phase of his jury trial, and granted Appellant a new penalty trial.

(Vol. 8, pp. 1492-1500) The stipulation provided for Appellant to waive his right to an evidentiary hearing on the guilt-phase claims raised in his motion for post-conviction relief. (Vol. 8, pp. 1492-1500)

On April 10, 2000, Judge Menendez accepted the stipulation. (Vol. 8, pp. 1501-1502)

Appellant's new penalty trial was held before a jury on February 11-14, 2002, with the Honorable William Fuente presiding. (Vol. 10, pp. 1-Vol. 14, p. 789) After receiving evidence from both the State and the defense, Appellant's jury returned recommendations by votes of 10-2 that he be sentenced to death.

(Vol. 9, p. 761; Vol. 14, pp. 782-783)

³ The date the motion was filed is unclear from the record. The "Case Progress" reflects that it was filed on June 2, 1993 (Vol. 1, p. 2), however, the second supplemental record shows the motion as being "undated," that is, without a filing date stamped on it. (2Supp., index and page 74) The certificate of service shows a date of April 5, 1993. (2Supp., p. 116)

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing⁴ was held before Judge Fuente on April 4, 2002, at which the defense presented the testimony of two attorneys who had represented Appellant. (1Supp., pp. 42-62)

On June 3, 2002, defense counsel filed a motion to declare

Florida Statutes 775.082 and 921.141 unconstitutional based on the

case of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). (Vol. 9, pp.

1776-1778) The motion requested as alternative relief, if these

statutes were not invalidated, suspension of all further

proceedings in this case subject to the decision of the Supreme

Court of the United States in State v. Ring, 200 Ariz. 267, 25 P.

3d 1139 (2001), cert. granted, _____ U.S. ____, 112 S. Ct. 865

(2002). (Vol. 9, p. 1778) The motion was heard by Judge Fuente

on June 10, 2002, and denied. (Vol. 9, pp. 1781-1782; Vol. 15, pp.

860-865)

Defense counsel subsequently made two more requests for the court to postpone sentencing of Appellant until this Court ruled on the applicability of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) to capital sentencing proceedings in Florida. (Vol. 9, pp. 1783-1785; Vol. 15, pp. 867-873, 878-879) However, the court refused to delay sentencing for this indefinite period, and the sentencing

⁴ <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

hearing was held before Judge Fuente on October 3, 2002. (Vol. 15, pp. 575-909) The court sentenced Appellant to death for each of the two homicides. (Vol. 15, pp. 908-909) In aggravation, the court found as follows: (1) Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, based upon "[t]he simultaneous conviction of multiple homicides. . . " and Appellant's "1993 conviction for an offense of assault with intent to commit rape[.]" The court accorded this factor "great weight." (Vol. 10, pp. 1791-1792; Vol. 15, pp. 884-885) (2) The pecuniary gain and burglary aggravating circumstances were established beyond a reasonable doubt. court "accorded the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance great weight," but "did not consider, apply or weight the burglary aggravating circumstance." (Vol. 10, pp. 1792-1793; Vol. 15, pp. 885-887) (3) The homicides were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The court gave this factor "great weight." (Vol. 10, pp. 1793-1796; Vol. 15, pp. 887-891) As for mitigation, the court found the two statutory "mental mitigators" (the crimes were committed while Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and Appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his

conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired), which he gave "moderate weight." (Vol. 10, pp. 1805-1806; Vol. 15, pp. 902-903) The court also found several nonstatutory mitigators, which he accorded "moderate weight." (Vol. 10, pp. 1806-1809; Vol. 15, pp. 904-908) He gave "slight weight" to the mitigation testimony given at the Spencer hearing by two of Appellant's former lawyers. (Vol. 10, pp. 1808-1809; Vol. 15, pp. 905-908)

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on October 15, 2002. (Vol. 10, p. 1823-1824)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

New Penalty Trial-State's Case-in-Chief

The State called four witnesses during its case-in-chief at the penalty trial held on February 11-14, 2002. (Vol. 11, pp. 199-356) Jack Nichols, a civil trial lawyer, was the son of R.J. and Virginia Nichols. (Vol. 11, pp. 199-200) The Nichols were renting one half of a duplex they owned to Appellant, who was behind in his rent. (Vol. 11, pp. 200-205) On the night before the instant homicides, his parents called Jack Nichols; they were very agitated. (Vol. 11, pp. 202-203) They related to him that they had gone to Appellant's apartment to collect the rent he owed, but

that Appellant had said something to the effect of, "Get her [Mrs. Nichols] out of here and don't let her come back or I won't be responsible for what I do." (Vol. 11, pp. 202-203) That was the last time Jack Nichols talked to his parents. (Vol. 11, p. 203)

Appellant signed an agreement with his landlords to bring them his payroll check on October 10, and Appellant's payroll check for \$250 was found in the wallet of wallet of one of the Nichols after their death. (Vol. 11, pp. 205-210) Also found was a receipt signed by R.J. Nichols, made out to Appellant. (Vol. 11, pp. 208-209)

James S. Noblitt, who was retired at the time of Appellant's penalty retrial, was involved in the investigation into the homicides of R.J. and Virginia Nichols when he was with the Tampa Police Department. (Vol. 11, p. 217)⁵ He arrived at the scene of the homicides around 11:30 on the night of October 10 [1986]. (Vol. 11, pp. 217-218) Other officers were already there. (Vol. 11, p. 218) At the northwest corner of the residence, Noblitt observed what he characterized as "blood transfer" on a gate in a fence, and two impressions on the ground such that someone may

 $^{^5}$ Over defense objection, Noblitt was permitted to be in the courtroom even when he was not testifying, despite the invocation of the Rule. (Vol. 11, pp. 180-183)

have jumped over the gate, making the impressions when he landed. (Vol. 11, pp. 220-221) As Noblitt approached the doorway on the east side of the residence, he noticed "what appeared to be a blood transfer" on a wrought iron railing just outside the door. (Vol. 11, p. 223) The police did not find any evidence of forced entry into the residence. (Vol. 11, p. 228) Inside the residence not far from the door there were a few blood transfers and blood spatter, as well as a ladies' cap, ladies' prescription glasses (which were later determined to belong to Virginia Nichols), and two green buttons. (Vol. 11, pp. 223-224, 228, 235-236)

Virginia Nichols' body was found about halfway down a hallway. (Vol. 11, pp. 226-227) Her lower dentures were found underneath her. (Vol. 11, p. 230)

R.J. Nichols' body was found in a bedroom; he was "kind of in a fetal position," with his feet against a door that had originally been the front door of the residence, but which had been blocked off, as there was another apartment on the other side of the door. (Vol. 11, pp. 227, 230-232, 234) He had part of a comforter from a bed stuffed in his mouth. (Vol. 11, pp. 227, 232, 242) Right inside the doorway of the room where Nichols was found

was a shirt that was later shown to belong to Appellant. (Vol. 11, pp. 231, 234, 240-241)

Warrants were issued for Appellant, and the police spoke with his family and friends in an effort to locate him. (Vol. 11, p. 244) On October 20, Noblitt's supervisor, Sergeant Price, received notification that Appellant had turned himself in to the Fort Lauderdale Police Department, and the two men flew to Fort Lauderdale that afternoon to conduct an interview. (Vol. 11, pp. 244-245) Noblitt asked Appellant to tell him what happened on the Friday in question. (Vol. 11, p. 245) Appellant said that, because of an eviction notice he received, he asked his employer, WesFlo, for a \$250 advance on his pay, which he did receive, along with his regular paycheck. (Vol. 11, p. 245) When Appellant got off work that evening, he and his girlfriend, Cassandra Jones, with whom he was living, went to the Nichols' residence and paid the rent, and they were then not going to be evicted. (Vol. 11, pp. 245-246) After Appellant returned home, a friend or associate named Ernie wanted him to help move a refrigerator or other appliance, for which Appellant would be paid, and Appellant went with Ernie to do this. (Vol. 11, p. 246) He and Ernie purchased cocaine at two locations in Tampa, then went to an apartment and

smoked it with two girls they had met. (Vol. 11, p. 246) They took the girls back to Highland Pines, and Ernie left. (Vol. 11, p. 247) Appellant got a ride with a black male to the Boston Bar, where he met up with a man named "Bobby," with whom he had worked a couple of times at a temporary labor company called Tracy Labor. (Vol. 11, p. 247) The two men wanted to get another piece of cocaine, which they smoked behind a bar called the Rockin. (Vol. 11, pp. 247-248) They talked about getting more cocaine, and Appellant told Bobby he knew where they might be able to get a check for \$250. (Vol. 11, p. 248) The two men went to Appellant's duplex apartment, and Bobby stayed outside while Appellant pushed in the door, entered his apartment, and changed his shirt. (Vol. 11, p. 248) His girlfriend, Cassandra, was angry that he broke the door frame. (Vol. 11, p. 248)

Appellant and Bobby then went to the Nichols' apartment, knocked on the door, and walked in. (Vol. 11, p. 248) Appellant asked Mr. Nichols if he could get the check back, and he thought Mr. Nichols was going to give it to him, but Mrs. Nichols then told her husband not to give it back. (Vol. 11, p. 248) Suddenly, Bobby pulled out a large butcher knife and began stabbing the Nichols, whereupon Mr. Nichols ran away to the back part of the

house. (Vol. 11, p. 249) Appellant tried to grab the knife from Bobby during the attack, and his hand was cut in the process.

(Vol. 11, p. 253) [Noblitt observed that the cut was on Appellant's right hand. (Vol. 11, p. 307) Appellant was left-handed. (Vol. 11, p. 307)] Appellant and Bobby then left the residence without taking anything. (Vol. 11, p. 249) Appellant went back down the alley, and did not know where Bobby went. (Vol. 11, p. 249)

Detective Noblitt told Appellant that he did not believe there was a Bobby, but if there was, then Noblitt would work the rest of his career to find out if there was a Bobby and if he was responsible, because of the seriousness of the crimes. (Vol. 11, pp. 249-250) Noblitt basically was "bluffing or acting or whatever," because he did not believe there was a Bobby. (Vol. 11, p. 250) He began packing up his briefcase to leave and said to Sergeant Price, "Let's go, we're finished, I'll go find Bobby." (Vol. 11, p. 250) Appellant, who had lain his head down on his arm on the table while Noblitt was doing this, looked at the detective and said, "'Don't bother, you don't need to look for Bobby.'" (Vol. 11, p. 250) When Noblitt asked him what he meant, Appellant responded, "'There isn't a Bobby.'" (Vol. 11, p. 250)

Appellant went on to say that he could not believe what he had done, and he could not believe that cocaine was like it was. (Vol. 11, pp. 250-251) He explained to Noblitt that the parts of his story about buying cocaine were true, but he was alone when he returned to his apartment. (Vol. 11, p. 251) He pushed in the back door because the door frame was bad. (Vol. 11, p. 251) After arquing with Cassandra, he took the largest butcher knife (which was about 12-14 inches long) out of a butcher block in his residence and hid it in the back waistband of his pants under the clean work shirt he put on. (Vol. 11, pp. 251-253) He went to the Nichols' house and knocked on the door. (Vol. 11, p. 252) Mr. Nichols answered the door, and Appellant entered. (Vol. 11, p. 252) Appellant told Nichols that Cassandra had been arrested and he needed the check back in order to get her out of jail. (Vol. 11, p. 252) He thought Nichols was going to give him the check, until Mrs. Nichols entered and told her husband not to do so. (Vol. 11, p. 252) The next thing Appellant knew, "Mrs. Nichols was on the floor and bleeding and had been stabbed." (Vol. 11, p. 252) Appellant saw Mr. Nichols run to the back bedroom, followed, saw him at the door, and the next thing Appellant knew, "was that Mr. Nichols was on the floor and had been stabbed." (Vol. 11, p.

252) With regard to the cut on his hand, Noblitt showed Appellant a photograph of a knife with a broken hand and a rivet sticking out of it that was recovered from the apartment Appellant shared with Cassandra. (Vol. 11, p. 253) Appellant said that he may have cut his hand on the rivet, but he was not sure if he cut it on the rivet or on the knife. (Vol. 11, p. 253-254)

When Mr. Nichols was lying down, Appellant heard him moaning and making noises, and so he pulled the covers down and put them in his mouth to stop the moaning. (Vol. 11, pp. 254, 257)

Appellant took off his shirt, wiped his hand with it, then put it in his back pocket. (Vol. 11, p. 254) When Noblitt questioned him, he was unaware that it had been left at the scene. (Vol. 11, p. 258) He began to leave out the same east door through which he had entered, but saw the white male who lived in the other half of the Nichols' duplex standing outside, and so ultimately exited out the back door. (Vol. 11, pp. 254-255) Appellant went over two fences and through the back alleyway to his apartment; he was not sure, but he thought he took the knife with him. (Vol. 11, pp. 255, 258) He could hear sirens, and helicopters flying overhead, and he realized he needed to get out of there. (Vol. 11, p. 255) He went to St. Petersburg the next

day, then to Palmetto, then to Fort Myers where he spoke to

Cassandra's cousin; "that was the first time he told anyone he had killed these people and had a chance to cry about it." (Vol. 11, p. 255) Appellant then went to Fort Lauderdale where he had cousins, Ernie and Bessie Williams. (Vol. 11, p. 255) Appellant told his cousins what he was involved in, and they told him to turn himself in. (Vol. 11, pp. 255-256) His cousin drove

Appellant to the Fort Lauderdale Police Department on Sunday night, and Appellant walked into the lobby, but did not want to turn himself in on Sunday, and argued with his cousin, who left.

(Vol. 11, p. 256) Appellant spent the night under a big tree at a place for homeless people a few blocks from the police station, but realized he could not live like that forever with people looking for him, and decided on Monday morning to turn himself in.

(Vol. 11, p. 256)

Although Noblitt had the opportunity to do so, he did not tape-record Appellant's statement, nor did he give Appellant the opportunity to write anything down. (Vol. 11, pp. 295-296, 298)

Appellant had testified at his first trial that Bobby did exist, and was the person who actually committed the crime, and

that Noblitt had fabricated the alleged confession. (Vol. 11, p. 299)

What Appellant told Noblitt during the interrogation session matched up with the physical evidence the detective observed at the Nichols' house. (Vol. 11, p. 256)

The police could not determine that anything had been taken from the Nichols' residence. (Vol. 11, pp. 299-300, 322) There was jewelry and other items of value, such as stereos, remaining in the residence after the episode of October 10. (Vol. 11, pp. 300-301)

Appellant's fingerprints were not found in the Nichols' residence. (Vol. 11, pp. 304-305) There were prints found that had been made by the Nichols, and there were other prints that could not be identified to either Appellant or the Nichols. (Vol. 11, pp. 304-305)⁶

According to Noblitt, Thomas Anderson, the Nichols' son-inlaw, testified at Appellant's previous trial that the check made out to Appellant and endorsed over to the Nichols was found in Mr. Nichols' wallet, in his trousers, which he habitually hung on a

⁶ Later testimony from Attorney Stuart Umbarger during the defense case indicated that the unidentified prints were taken from the hood of a Ford Tempo parked outside the Nichols' residence. (Vol. 13, pp. 560-561)

nail in his closet at night. (Vol. 11, pp. 261-262) There was a small amount of cash in the wallet as well. (Vol. 11, pp. 261, 300)

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