IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALPHONSO GREEN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC02-2315

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite

Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7910 Fax (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

200

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in answering the jury's question about eligibility for parole. The court correctly answered that there was no guarantee that appellant would be granted parole at or any time after twenty-five years and the court's response did not give an unfair advantage to either side.
- II. The claim that the death sentences should be vacated because the trial court that initially sentenced appellant to death in 1987 allegedly failed to file a timely written order must be rejected. The instant claim is procedurally barred since Green failed to assert on direct appeal any argument that there had been a violation of Van Royal v. State, 497 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1986) or Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988). The claim is also barred since he abandoned such a claim in the postconviction amended pleadings. The claim is also meritless, since Judge Menendez's written findings in January of 1988 would have been in compliance with the edict issued in Grossman, supra. Obviously, this Court was able to provide full appellate review in its decision affirming the judgment and sentence. Green v. State, 583 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1991).
- III. There was no evidentiary insufficiency in the lower court's determination in the sentencing finding that the

homicides were committed to facilitate obtaining property; the motivation for the killings was pecuniary. See Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995); Williams v. State, 622 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 1993); Buenoano v. State, 527 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1988); Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996). Appellant is not entitled to relief pursuant to Delgado v. State, 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000) since relief under Delgado, supra, is not available to convictions that became final before Delgado was decided. See Jimenez v. State, 810 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 2001). Appellant's conviction became final with this Court's affirmance of the judgment and sentence and denial of rehearing on August 23, 1991. Green v. State, 583 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1991).

IV. Appellant's request for relief pursuant to Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) and Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) must be rejected. As appellant recognizes, this Court has consistently and persistently rejected appellant's claims and variants thereof. See King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002) and Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002). Unlike Arizona, the maximum penalty for first degree murder is death. Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 2003); Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2001); Shere v. Moore, 830 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 2002). Ring does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that the state will present at sentencing or

a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury. <u>Kormondy v. State</u>, 845 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 2003).

The state further notes that among the aggravators present in the instant case was the prior violent felony conviction aggravator, F.S. 921.141(5)(b), for the murder conviction of the other victim and a prior conviction of assault with intent to commit rape. Thus, reliance on <u>Apprendi</u> is unavailable. <u>See Doorbal v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 2003); <u>Lugo v. State</u>, 845 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 2003).

Finally, <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive. <u>See Turner v. Crosby</u>, 339 F.3d 1247, 1282 (11th Cir. 2003); <u>State v. Towery</u>, 64 P.3d 828 (Ariz. 2003).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ANSWERING THE JURY'S QUESTIONS ABOUT ELIGIBILITY FOR PAROLE.

The standard of review on the trial court's answering a question posed by the jury during its deliberations is abuse of discretion. Downs v. State, 572 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1990). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000); Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990); Overton v. State, 801 So. 2d 877, 896 (Fla. 2001); Banks v. State, 732 So. 2d 1065, 1068 (Fla. 1999); Ouince v. State, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1999); Hawk v. State, 718 So. 2d 159, 162 (Fla. 1998); White v. State, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002). The lower court did not abuse its discretion.

In closing argument defense counsel reminded the jury "we started this case with the understanding that Mr. Green was convicted of first degree murder" (R XIV, 728). He reiterated:

And in the course of this hearing, obviously we're not in a position to argue that Mr. Green is not guilty because, again, as we're constantly aware that the defendant, Mr. Green, has been convicted by a previous jury of first degree murder. (R XIV,

732)

Defense counsel further argued that there had been testimony that Green has been "a very obedient, very respectful, very compliant prisoner. One who has required little maintenance during his incarceration, other than the normal maintenance that a prisoner has" (R XIV, 742). He added:

And I ask you to give that serious consideration as to the fact that he has been incarcerated during this period of time. And that he has been for the most part or, well, I should say almost completely -- a completely model prisoner.

. . (R XIV, 742)

In the instructions to the jury, the court instructed that its recommendation should be either death or life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty-five years (R XIV, 766-767).

Approximately an hour and a half into the jury deliberations, the court received the following question from the jurors:

Judge, does a life sentence without the possibility of parole for 25 years start with the year 1987 or does it start with today?

(R XIV, 771; R IX, 1759)

The prosecutor thought the jury should be told that appellant gets credit for all the time he's been in jail and defense counsel thought the question should not be answered and

that they should be instructed to rely on the given instructions (R XIV, 771). The prosecutor provided the court with <u>Downs v.</u> State, 572 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1990). The defense maintained that the court should tell the jury nothing or that if the court answered, should state that it wasn't sure when he began eligibility for parole (R XIV, 777).

The court drafted an answer reciting:

The defendant, if sentenced to life without possibility of parole for 25 years, would be entitled to credit for time served against a life sentence. However, there is no guarantee that he would be granted parole at or any time after 25 years.

(R IX, 1759; see also R XIV, 781-782)

The defense objected and asked the court to add that there is no guarantee the court will not give consecutive life sentences making him eligible for parole after fifty years (R XIV, 781). The court noted the defendant's objection. The court had the bailiff return the note with the answer to the jury at 3:10 pm and the jury returned with its ten-to-two recommendation of death at 3:25 pm (R XIV, 782).

In <u>Downs v. State</u>, supra, during deliberations the jury asked the question "Would the life sentence with no chance of parole for 25 years begin right now, or would the 11 years he already spent in prison be subtracted from the 25 years?" After

consulting with counsel and over defense counsel's objection, the trial court instructed the jury that Downs "would receive credit for time served on this charge." This Court rejected Downs' contention that the court's answer improperly "invited" the jury to access future dangerousness, thereby adding a non-statutory aggravating circumstance to the jury instruction:

Under the facts presented, we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

(572 So. 2d at 901)

Appellant's citation to <u>Perriman v. State</u>, 731 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 1999) does not command reversal. The Court noted there that "Where appropriate, the court may also clarify a point of law with a brief, clear response." <u>Id.</u> at 1247. In a concurring opinion, Justice Anstead added that trial courts should be encouraged to give the jurors help without the threat of reversal for a slight deviation from pattern charges. <u>Id.</u> at 1248.

In <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992), this Court held that the trial court did <u>not</u> abuse its discretion in refusing to answer questions propounded by the jury regarding when the defendant would be eligible for parole, whether time served previously counts toward parole time, and whether, if paroled, would the defendant be returned to finish his sentence. This Court explained that it could not reasonably be argued that

the jury would have been less likely to recommend the death penalty had it been informed Waterhouse would receive credit for time served and that the trial court could not know whether he would be extradited to New York once paroled. The Court pointed out that the defendant was not prohibited from presenting evidence that would cause the jury to decline to impose the death penalty. <u>Id.</u> at 1015.

In <u>Whitfield v. State</u>, 706 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1997), when the jury inquired whether life in prison without parole meant no parole under any circumstances, the trial judge declined to give an affirmative response choosing instead to reread the appropriate instruction. This Court agreed there was no abuse of discretion in the lower court's refusal to answer the question affirmatively, based on the law. <u>Id.</u> at 5.

Appellant argues apparently the best option is not to answer the question at all or simply refer them back to the instructions previously given. While it may be correct to assert that a trial court probably does not abuse its discretion in declining to answer questions or referring back to the originally charged instruction, it is also correct that where, as here, the trial court gave a correct answer that also does not constitute an abuse of discretion. Here, the court's answer that Green would be entitled to credit for all jail time served

is correct and it is correct that there is no quarantee that he would be granted parole at or any time after twenty-five years. Appellant contends that the lower court, if answering the question, should have added that appellant could be given two consecutive life sentences, in which case he would not be eligible for parole for fifty years. While the lower court arguably might have given that instruction, that instruction carries the possible danger of implying that the trial court was amenable at that moment to imposing consecutive life sentences (when the judge was not yet prepared to make any sentencing decision -- whether life or death) whereas the answer given by the court only suggested the uncertainty of predicting in future the actions of a completely different actor, the Parole and Probation Commission. The lower court properly resolved the matter with an honest, correct answer that did not give an unfair advantage to either side.²

It cannot be said that <u>no</u> reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>Trease</u>, *supra*; <u>Huff</u>, *supra*, <u>Overton</u>, *supra*. Appellant's claim of an abuse of discretion must be denied.

² A defense special requested instruction may be denied even though a correct statement of the law where it is misleading. Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 756 and n.9 (Fla. 2001); United States v. Sans, 731 F.2d 1521, 1530 (11th Cir. 1984).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCES SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT THAT ORIGINALLY SENTENCED APPELLANT TO DEATH IN 1987 ALLEGEDLY FAILED TO FILE A TIMELY WRITTEN ORDER.

Appellant next argues that his death sentences should be vacated because Judge Menendez allegedly failed to timely file the written sentencing findings, for the <u>original</u> sentences of death imposed in 1987, as required by <u>Van Royal v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1986) and its progeny. Green contends that the court imposed two sentences of death on October 23, 1987 (R III, 400-406) but entered the written sentencing findings on January 11, 1988 nunc pro tunc October 23, 1987 (R III, 426-431).³ [The original notice of appeal was filed on November 10, 1987 and an amended notice of appeal was filed November 30, 1987.⁴] The original record on appeal was sent to this Court on March 18, 1988.

(A) The instant claim is procedurally barred.

In Green's previous direct appeal he raised the following issues: (1) trial court error in failing to declare a mistrial

³ The order reads January 11, 1987, but this is an obvious typographical error and should be 1988.

 $^{^4}$ See initial direct appeal record, Florida Supreme Court case number 71,540, Vol. XVI, 2783, 2791. The record was certified to this Court on March 14, 1988.

after the state excluded three blacks as jurors; (2) allowing certain alleged hearsay statements introduced by the state; allowing the state to commit (3) fundamental error by insinuating that the defendant intended to rely on intoxication defense; (4) trial court's finding that the murders were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest was not supported by the record; (5) trial court unlawfully doubled the aggravating circumstances that the murders were committed in the commission of a robbery or burglary with their being committed for pecuniary gain; (6) the CCP finding was not justified; (7) that the HAC instructions were unconstitutionally vague; (8) the trial court improperly failed to submit for the jury's consideration whether Green had a significant history of prior criminal activity; (9) the prosecutor's comments in penalty phase argument deprived Green of a fair sentencing hearing; and (10) the function of the jury was denigrated in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). This Court found no reversible error and affirmed the judgment and sentence. Green v. State, 583 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 1991), cert. den., 502 U.S. 1102 (1992). Appellant lodged no complaint in that appeal or in his rehearing motion pertaining to any $\underline{\text{Van Royal}}/\underline{\text{Grossman}}^{\text{5}}$ violation. Thus, any such $\underline{\text{Van}}$

⁵ <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988).

Royal/Grossman complaint or argument has been abandoned by Green's failure to raise on appeal or assert in his rehearing motion. See Joel Dale Wright v. State/Crosby, 857 So. 2d 861, 878 (Fla. 2003)(claim that this Court failed to do reweighing required by Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992) deemed abandoned for failure to assert in rehearing motion). Lightbourne v. State, 841 So. 2d 431, 442 (Fla. 2003)(claim that could have been raised in a motion for rehearing but was not was abandoned and procedurally barred from consideration in a postconviction proceeding); Garcia v. State, 816 So. 2d 554, 569 (Fla. 2002)(defendant's failure to challenge decision with regard to jury override issue in a motion for rehearing).

The instant claim is procedurally barred for yet another reason. Appellant asserts at footnote 10, page 43 of his brief that he raised this issue below in his 1993 and 1994 motions for postconviction relief (R Supp. II, 83-88; R III 500-506). Appellant has neglected to mention that Green subsequently filed on July 31, 1998 a Second Amended Motion to Vacate urging fifteen claims (R IV, 595-680). The Van Royal/Grossman claim was omitted there and presumably abandoned. Green filed a Second Amended Motion again on August 14, 1998 (R IV, 682-766) and again Green failed to assert this claim. Contrary to appellant's footnote assertion, the lower court "never reached"

the issue" because appellant had abandoned it in the Second Amended Motion to Vacate. The record reflects that the trial judge considered <u>all</u> of the issues presented in the final Motion to Vacate, denied most of the claims and ruled that some required an evidentiary hearing (R VIII, 1404-1440). Thereafter, the parties entered into the Joint Stipulation and Green was given another penalty phase proceeding.

In addition to appellant's double default and abandonment of the instant claim in failing to urge it in his 1998 Second Amended Motions to Vacate, appellant is barred from urging the claim now by virtue of his agreement in the Joint Stipulation waiving the right to appeal the January 31, 2000 Order Denying in Part the Amended Motion to Vacate (R VIII, 1492-1502).

(B) The instant claim is meritless.

Quite apart from the procedural bar argued, supra, relief must be denied as meritless. A review of this jurisprudence is in order. In <u>Van Royal</u>, supra, the Court vacated the death sentences where more than a month elapsed between the time the jury recommended <u>life</u> sentences and the time the judge overrode

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